### **Fairness in Dynamic Networks**

Hamed Molaei

A Thesis

in

**The Department** 

of

**Electrical and Computer Engineering** 

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Master of Applied Science (Electrical Engineering) at

**Concordia University** 

Montréal, Québec, Canada

September 2022

© Hamed Molaei, 2022

#### CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

#### School of Graduate Studies

This is to certify that the thesis prepared

By: Hamed Molaei

Entitled: **Fairness in Dynamic Networks** 

and submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

#### Master of Applied Science (Electrical Engineering)

complies with the regulations of this University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the Final Examining Committee:

|             |                                         |                                           | _ Chair             |
|-------------|-----------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------|---------------------|
|             | Dr. Rastko Selmic                       |                                           |                     |
|             | Dr. Arash Mohamn                        | nadi                                      | _ External Examiner |
|             | Dr. Rastko Selmic                       |                                           | _ Examiner          |
|             | Dr. Amir G. Aghda.                      | m                                         | _ Supervisor        |
| Approved by | Yousef R. Shayan,<br>Department of Elec | Chair<br>ctrical and Computer Engineering |                     |
|             | 2022                                    | Mourad Debbabi, Dean                      |                     |

Faculty of Engineering and Computer Science

#### Abstract

Fairness in Dynamic Networks

Hamed Molaei

The main focus of this research is directed towards fairness in a dynamic network. Two specific applications are mathematically formulated: heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC), and code division multiple access (CDMA). In the first problem, namely, fair power allocation for temperature regulation of a multi-unit building, the temperature of each unit is described by a discrete-time dynamic equation. The formulation considers the effect of outside temperature and heat transfer between the adjacent rooms. Temperature regulation is then described as a constrained optimization problem, where the objective is to maintain the temperature of each unit within a prescribed thermal comfort zone with a limited amount of power. An optimal control strategy is presented to minimize the maximum mutual temperature difference between different units (longterm fairness) while maintaining the temperature of each unit in the comfort zone or close to it at all times, as much as possible (short-term fairness). Simulations demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed control strategy in regulating the temperature of every unit in a building. Regarding the second application, an optimization-based fair reverse-link rate assignment strategy is proposed for fair resource allocation in a CDMA network. The network is modeled in a star topology, where the nodes represent either the base station (BS) or access terminals (ATs). The BS at every instant computes the fair rate for each AT by minimizing the maximum disparity in users' rates. Then, the BS sends a single bit to all ATs at every instant. It is shown that if each AT could compute a specific variable, called the coordinating variable, it can find its fair rate, which means the decision-making strategy is distributed. The proposed method is computationally efficient, and simulations confirm its efficacy in different scenarios.

To my mother, father, and Amir.

## Contents

| Li | List of Figures |                                                          |    |  |  |  |  |
|----|-----------------|----------------------------------------------------------|----|--|--|--|--|
| 1  | Intr            | oduction                                                 | 1  |  |  |  |  |
|    | 1.1             | Preliminaries                                            | 1  |  |  |  |  |
|    | 1.2             | Applications of Fairness                                 | 5  |  |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 1.2.1 Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning Systems | 6  |  |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 1.2.2 Code-Division Multiple Access Systems              | 6  |  |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 1.2.3 Other Potential Applications                       | 7  |  |  |  |  |
|    | 1.3             | Thesis Contributions                                     | 7  |  |  |  |  |
|    | 1.4             | Thesis Layout                                            | 8  |  |  |  |  |
| 2  | Hea             | ating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning Systems         |    |  |  |  |  |
|    | 2.1             | Summary                                                  | 9  |  |  |  |  |
|    | 2.2             | Introduction                                             | 10 |  |  |  |  |
|    | 2.3             | Problem Formulation                                      | 12 |  |  |  |  |
|    | 2.4             | Main Results                                             | 18 |  |  |  |  |
|    | 2.5             | Simulation Results                                       | 25 |  |  |  |  |
|    | 2.6             | Conclusions                                              | 26 |  |  |  |  |

| 3  | Fair Rate Assignment in Reverse-Link CDMA |                          |    |  |  |  |
|----|-------------------------------------------|--------------------------|----|--|--|--|
|    | 3.1                                       | Summary                  | 30 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.2                                       | Introduction             | 31 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.3                                       | Problem Formulation      | 33 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.4                                       | Main Results             | 35 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.5                                       | Simulation Results       | 41 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.6                                       | Conclusions              | 42 |  |  |  |
| 4  | Con                                       | clusions and Future Work | 44 |  |  |  |
| Bi | Bibliography                              |                          |    |  |  |  |

## **List of Figures**

| 2.1 | HVAC control methods                                                                | 13 |
|-----|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| 2.2 | The floor map of the building in Example 3. The double-sided arrows represent       |    |
|     | heat transfer between two neighboring units (yellow arrows) or between a unit and   |    |
|     | outside (green arrows).                                                             | 25 |
| 2.3 | Temperatures and power allocation for the units in the building of Example 3 with-  |    |
|     | out taking the heat transfer between the units into consideration. (a) Room temper- |    |
|     | atures obtained by using the minimax approach, and (b) power allocation for the     |    |
|     | units obtained by using the minimax approach.                                       | 27 |
| 2.4 | Temperatures and power allocation for the units in the building of Example 4 with-  |    |
|     | out taking the heat transfer between the units into consideration. (a) Room temper- |    |
|     | atures obtained by using the minimax approach, and (b) power allocation for the     |    |
|     | units obtained by using the minimax approach.                                       | 28 |
| 2.5 | Allocated power and resulting temperature over 24 hours in the system of Exam-      |    |
|     | ple 5. (a) Temperatures of different units obtained by using the proposed method,   |    |
|     | and (b) power allocated to each unit using the proposed method.                     | 29 |
| 3.1 | An example of a wireless communication network with one BS and $n$ ATs (users) .    | 33 |
| 3.2 | Graphical representation of function $F(.)$                                         | 34 |

| 3.3 | 3 The nonlinear closed-loop system with on-off control $N$ and linear system $G$ , for |    |  |  |  |
|-----|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|--|--|--|
|     | describing function analysis.                                                          | 40 |  |  |  |
| 3.4 | The results obtained by using the proposed algorithm with six users in Example 6.      | 42 |  |  |  |
| 3.5 | The results obtained by using the proposed algorithm with users in Example 7           | 43 |  |  |  |
| 3.6 | The results obtained by using the proposed algorithm in a network with a varying       |    |  |  |  |
|     | number of users.                                                                       | 43 |  |  |  |

### **Chapter 1**

### Introduction

#### **1.1 Preliminaries**

Fairness is an old concept, but its root ("fair") was formally described for the first time in 11th century in the meaning of "pleasing to the eye or mind especially because of fresh, charming, or flawless quality." In the current era, "fair" means "just", "equitable", "impartial", "unbiased", and "objective". Each of the previously-mentioned definitions is described below [1]:

- "fair" means a proper balance of conflicting interests; for example, a fair decision.
- "just" means an exact following of a standard of what is right and proper; for example, a just settlement of territorial claims.
- "equitable" is a less rigorous notion than "just", implying equal treatment of all concerned; for example, the equitable distribution of a property.
- "impartial" means no favor or prejudice; for example, an impartial third party.
- "unbiased", implies in a stronger way than "impartial" an absence of all prejudice; for example, your unbiased opinion.

• "objective" means a tendency to view events or persons as apart from oneself and one's own interest or feelings; for example, not being objective about one's own child.

Fairness has been studied in several problems in science and engineering such as:

- Algorithmic fairness in computer science [2, 3].
- Machine learning, where sources of unfairness and methods to mitigate them are studied[4, 5, 6, 7].
- The concepts of "fair value" and "fair price" in economics, which makes financial statements easier to compare and balance sheets more reflective of real values [8].
- Network engineering, where the efficacy of the resource allocation methodologies is assessed using fairness measures [9, 10, 11].
- Game theory problems, where players are not self-interested [12, 13, 14, 15].

Fairness has appeared in many researchers. Nevertheless, the essence of the current study is fairness in resource allocation. Although all people can comprehend fairness and distinguish between unfair and fair acts (or resource allocation in the current context), there is a tremendous variation in defining and quantifying fairness. In other words, conceptually, fairness is trivial but mathematically is challenging to define. Therefore, different indices are used for quantifying fairness. Fairness is closely related to resource allocation, which is the distribution of limited resources to multiple users. Therefore, fairness and resource allocation are described mathematically, and the relationship between the two is specified. Once fairness is achieved, increasing resources corrupts it. In this context, agreement on a definition of fairness is essential. Although all people perceive fairness, this comprehension is affected by personal preferences and other factors. Thus, even in the case of two people, they might have a skirmish, but both might believe they are acting fair. These complexities do not exist in our problems, as personal preferences are excluded in our formulation. Now, we turn to depict the mentioned concepts and their relationships by the following examples:

**Example 1.** Let four apples be given to two friends. They can divide four apples among themselves in many ways. For example, one of them might favor the other one over oneself. In this case, friend 1 might get one apple and friend 2 three apples. However, if they are asked to divide the apples fairly, the ground truth for fairness is equal distribution. Therefore, one common ground for fairness is equality. However, in the following example, we will show that this is not always the case. In this example, we only had one constraint: the number of apples was limited, which is a coupled constraint because it constrains all users.

**Example 2.** Let an apple pie be given to two people. One of them is more hungry than the other. Moreover, they are told to distribute the pie fairly, and if anything remains from it after distributing, it would be a waste. In this example, we face two constraints: one individual constraint and one coupled constraint. The individual constraint is that one of the individuals is less hungry than the other. The coupled constraint is the amount of apple pie, which is limited. In this example, consider that person 1 cannot eat more than one slice, the other can eat any amount, and no waste is allowed. Here, fairness means that the lower capacity individual should get as much pie as they want, and the other would get all remaining slices.

The above examples present some aspects of fairness in the current study with both coupled and individual constraints. The users cannot get more than their capacity and cannot collectively exceed the amount specified in the coupled constraint. Note that fairness is meaningful only when resources are limited (coupled constraint), and restrictions on individual capacities only make the problem more complex. If we only had coupled constraints and no individual constraints, then fairness would mean equality. Individual constraints transform the fairness problem into a distribution problem that is as equal as possible.

The distribution of resources to users can either follow particular dynamics or be performed

at once. These correspond to two types of fairness problems, dynamic and static. An example of dynamic fairness is the fair distribution of heat to every apartment in a building. On the other hand, the distribution of apples in the previous examples is a static fairness problem.

Dynamic fairness is a more challenging problem because it involves multiple interacting users with possible connections among their dynamics. Thus, the problem is to distribute resources fairly in a dynamic network, and the notions of short- and long-term fairness in such settings are beneficial. Note that, as mentioned earlier, quantifying fairness is not straightforward. Furthermore, defining short- and long-term fairness is even more challenging. These notions will be further discussed in the sequel.

As mentioned earlier, static fairness corresponds to a one-time allocation of resources, and dynamic fairness is a continuous allocation of resources over a specific or infinite time horizon. Also, equality is the ideal fair distribution, but in the presence of constraints, we might not reach equality, and we may need to distribute the resources as equally as possible. Mathematically, we desire to minimize  $|x_i - x_j|$  or  $(x_i - x_j)^2$ , where  $i, j \in N_n := \{1, ..., n\}$ , and n is the number of users, and  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  are allocated resources to user i and j, respectively. In this function, there are a combination of n users taken two at a time, i.e. C(n, 2), which can be a large number. Therefore, it is desired to minimize the maximum of C(n, 2) values with any prescribed constraints. To describe this mathematically, one can write:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \underset{x \in R^{n}}{\text{minimize}} \max_{i,j \in N_{n}} & (x_{i} - x_{j})^{2}, \\ \text{subject to} & p(x) < 0 \\ & a(x) = 0 \end{array}$$
(1.1)

in which  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  are resources allocated to user *i* and *j*, respectively, *x* is the vector of all users' resources, p(x) is the inequality constraint, and q(x) is the equality constraint. In particular, when there is only a single coupled constraint and upper bound for each individual, we have:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \underset{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}}{\text{minimize}} \underset{i,j \in N_{n}}{\text{max}} & (x_{i} - x_{j})^{2}, \\ \text{subject to} & \sum_{i} x_{i} \leq \bar{x}, \\ & 0 \leq x_{i} \leq \bar{x}_{i}, \end{array} \tag{1.2}$$

for which  $x_i$ ,  $x_j$ , and x have the same meaning as (1.1). The constant  $\bar{x}$  denotes the upper bound of the total resources, and  $\bar{x}_i$  represents the upper bound for individual resources of each user.

For fairness in a dynamic network, resource allocation needs to be considered in a prespecified time horizon, with the network dynamics. The users in the network can be interacting or non-interacting. For simplicity, we consider linear coupled constraints along with upper- and lower-bound restrictions. Interaction among users can be represented by a matrix similar to the adjacency matrix in graphs. We will investigate this problem in our research.

In controlling a group of competing agents with limited resources, fairness is a central problem. Some real-world examples of this type of problem include heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) systems, code-division multiple access (CDMA) systems, and sensor networks, to name only a few. For instance, in HVAC systems, the objective is to perform a fair distribution of the available energy among all the units in a building to heat them. On the other hand, in CDMA systems, it is aimed to allocate rates to all subscribed users in a fair manner in the presence of some constraints. To incorporate a fair strategy in these systems, it is essential to mathematically describe the governing network dynamics, which is unique in each application. In this study, we provide a formulation for fairness that can be applied to systems with different dynamics.

#### **1.2 Applications of Fairness**

In the proceeding sections, two applications of fairness are introduced, and a brief description for each of them is provided.

#### 1.2.1 Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning Systems

Consider a building with several units, and, for simplicity, assume it has only one floor. There would be dynamic coupling between units through the common walls. There would also be dynamic interaction with the outside environment. We aim to heat every unit to the desired temperature for its occupant, subject to the limited energy resources. Note that energy limitation is a realistic condition concerning the existing energy restrictions. Based on the previous discussions, we deal with the resource allocation problem subject to some constraints. One can define various optimization indices and allocate the resources accordingly. For this study, we consider fairness as the performance index. It might not be possible to achieve equal temperatures for all units because some might have lower power for the heating appliances. However, we allocate resources as equally as possible. We use a control strategy to reach the optimization objective. The heat-transfer model between the units is based on well-known thermodynamics laws; therefore, we can use model-based control methods such as model predictive control (MPC). The objective is then to design an MPC rule to achieve both short- and long-term fairness.

#### 1.2.2 Code-Division Multiple Access Systems

The reverse link rate in a code-division multiple access (CDMA) network can be selected arbitrarily considering three constraints:

- Rise over thermal (RoT) constraint
- Upper-bound limit for rates
- Single bit feedback signal from the base station (BS) to access terminals (ATs)

The RoT constraint acts as a coupled constraint because it is related to the rates of all ATs. If this constraint is satisfied, the signals sent from ATs to the BS can be decoded successfully. The upperbound limits are, in fact, bounds on rates. In other words, the rates of the ATs' communication links can not exceed a predefined limit. Moreover, all ATs will receive single-bit feedback (0 or 1) from the BS. Therefore, this can be formulated as a constrained optimization problem, where the resource allocation is to be optimized in terms of fairness, with limited resources (collective and individual). Therefore, we need to use binary feedback to generate an optimal control signal in the context of the bang-bang strategy.

#### **1.2.3** Other Potential Applications

Some of the emerging areas where fairness in resource allocation can be crucial are listed below:

- Cable-driven parallel robots (CDPRs) in tele-operation applications
- Smart grids
- Social networks (SN)

Note that although the mathematical foundation of all applications is similar, the corresponding optimization problem and its solution are different. We will discuss this issue for the two first applications in detail in the next chapters.

#### **1.3 Thesis Contributions**

The novelties of the proposed approach can be summarized as follows:

- Using the min-max formulation for fairness in dynamic systems
- Providing an extendable formulation for fairness which can be used for a variety of systems
- Incorporating the dynamic coupling between the subsystems for a more realistic modeling in the HVAC problem
- Using the proposed fairness formulation in the rate allocation problem in wireless networks

#### **1.4** Thesis Layout

This thesis is prepared in manuscript-based style according to the Student's Guide to Thesis Preparation, Examination Procedures and Regulations of the School of Graduate Studies, Concordia University. It includes four chapters as described below.

In Chapter 2, an algorithm is developed for achieving fairness in a dynamic network, with a special focus on the HVAC system. First, the temperature of different rooms in a multi-unit building is formulated as a dynamic model, using the heat-transfer equations between the adjacent rooms as well as that between exterior rooms and outside. Then, a multi-objective optimization problem is defined, whose solution results in a long-term equitable strategy for a fair power allocation for the users solving an optimal resource allocation. A control strategy is proposed by using model predictive control (MPC) and solving an optimal resource allocation problem along with the constraints that exists in a heating (or cooling) system. Two algorithms are developed to solve the problem. Solution to this problem provides both short- and long-term fairness, as well as user comfort in all building units. The theoretical findings are verified by simulations for realistic building models with different parameters.

Chapter 3 investigates fairness in a CDMA system. This chapter starts by providing a mathematical background for a general CDMA system. Then, a multi-objective optimization problem is defined, whose solution results in a fair strategy for reverse-link rate allocation from the base station (BS) side. Several lemmas and theorems are presented to solve this optimization problem. The describing function approach is used for stability analysis and characterizing the resultant limit cycles. Finally, the efficacy of the proposed method is evaluated by simulation.

Chapter 4 concludes the thesis and provides ideas for future research directions.

### Chapter 2

# Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning Systems

#### 2.1 Summary

Fair power allocation for temperature regulation in the heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) system of a multi-unit building is investigated in this section. The temperature of each unit is described by a discrete-time dynamic equation, taking into account the effect of outside temperature as well as heat transfer between the adjacent rooms. Temperature regulation is then formulated as a constrained optimization problem, where the objective is to maintain the temperature of each unit within a prescribed thermal comfort zone with a limited amount of power. An optimal control strategy is presented to minimize the maximum mutual temperature difference between different units (long-term fairness) while maintaining the temperature of each unit in the comfort zone or close to it at all times, as much as possible (short-term fairness). Simulations demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed control strategy in regulating the temperature of every unit in a building.

#### 2.2 Introduction

Commercial and residential buildings have considerable proportion of the global energy consumption [16]. One of the primary energy uses in buildings is heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) systems. HVAC systems are widely used for thermal comfort in modern buildings and have a 50% share of total energy usage in buildings [17]. According to [18], approximately 75% of heating and cooling is still generated from fossil fuels. Such fossil fuel consumption accounts for 10% of greenhouse gas emissions and 25% of the total energy usage in the United States [19]. Thus, there has been a growing interest in recent years in efficient power allocation for temperature control of both residential and commercial buildings [20, 21, 22]. Large HVAC facilities require constant supervision of technicians to adjust settings for optimal performance of the overall system [23, 24]. Efficient power allocation in HVAC systems can be considered from a different perspective, such as energy consumption efficiency and occupant thermal comfort. One important challenge in this type of system is to allocate the power to different units or rooms in the building as fairly as possible, given that allocating more heating power for one unit can come at the cost of possible discomfort to people in another unit. Therefore, it is desired to keep the temperature of different units close to each other and within the thermal comfort zone at all times as much as possible. On the other hand, the power allocated to each unit and also the total available power at any point in time are limited, adding to the complexity of the problem.

Different control strategies are proposed in the literature for thermal regulation in buildings. These control methods include classical control, hard control, soft control, hybrid control, and other control techniques, as demonstrated in Fig. 2.1 [25]. One of the well-established control methods for HVAC systems is model predictive control (MPC) [26, 27, 28] because it can incorporate weather forecast and occupancy profiles in real-time for decision-making [29]. In HVAC system, the goal of MPC is to fined a control actions that minimize a cost function or multiple cost functions, while ensuring the comfort of the occupants and respecting the constraint of the problem [30]. In HVAC

systems, MPC methods offers more efficient control, higher energy savings and better indoor environment, compared to classical control methods [31]. Optimization-based methods are employed in [32, 33] to achieve the above objective using the model predictive control (MPC) framework. In [34, 35], robust MPC techniques are used for temperature regulation to account for uncertainty in the model of the building. In [36], authors proposed a mixed-integer linear programming-based MPC strategy to improve the operation of the HVAC systems in buildings. A multi-objective genetic algorithm is presented in [37] to optimize a number of set-points, including unit air temperatures taking into account energy consumption and thermal comfort. The authors in [38] introduce an HVAC control strategy whose objective is to achieve a human-sensation-based indoor thermal comfort as opposed to maintaining a constant indoor air temperature. The interested reader is referred to [25] for a more detailed survey on control techniques for the HVAC systems, especially MPC-based methods. Lexicographic fairness for bandwidth allocation and data collection is discussed in detail in [39, 40]. In [41], a computationally efficient lexicographic minimax algorithm is developed to achieve fairness by properly allocating resources. However, the method cannot be effectively used for thermal regulation using an HVAC system as the resource allocation scheme in [41] is fixed and not suitable for a dynamic system. On the other hand, there are some recent advances in fair resource allocation in buildings. Fair heat distribution is of particular interest in HVAC systems due to its impact on energy efficiency and user comfort [42]. Fair heat distribution in a system consisting of several heating sources is addressed in [43]. The authors in [44] propose an optimal heat allocation scheme by considering the heat flow through walls, investigating both deterministic and statistical approaches. Moreover, in [45], fair cost distribution for a smart building is studied, and a lexicographic minimax approach is provided for solving the problem.

While existing HVAC control techniques, including the ones cited in the previous paragraph, are useful in regulating the temperature in some buildings, they are not as effective for buildings with several units as they often ignore the heat transfer between adjacent units. Furthermore, most of the existing methods fail to consider both short-term and long-term fairness in power allocation for thermal regulation. In the present work, the temperatures of different units in the building are modeled by a dynamic equation, where the temperature of each unit is affected by not only the power allocated to that unit but also by the heat transfer to/from its adjacent units. The problem is then formulated as a constrained optimization, where fairness in power allocation is represented by an appropriate cost function, and the maximum available power for each unit as well as the total available power is described by inequality constraints. One of the key features of the proposed method is that it uses the prescribed thermal comfort zone as a design specification in the optimization process. The efficacy of the proposed optimal power allocation method is verified by simulations.

#### 2.3 **Problem Formulation**

Consider a building with  $n \in N$  units (rooms). The temperature of each unit is a function of the amount of heating provided to that unit by the HVAC system as well as heat transfer between that unit and its neighboring units. Thus, the temperature of different units is modeled as a dynamic, interconnected network, where the state of each node at any instant is the temperature of that node. Each link, on the other hand, represents the effect of heat transfer between two neighboring units at any time. A unit whose neighbors are all inside the building is called an *interior unit*. In contrast, a unit that is adjacent to at least one outside wall or window is referred to as an *exterior unit*.

Let the temperatures of different units evolve according to the following dynamic equation:

$$t(k+1) = (I-L)t(k) + B_1 t^{out}(k) + B_2 q(k),$$
(2.1)

where  $t(k) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a column vector containing the temperatures of all units at time k, with its *i*-th element  $t_i(k)$  denoting the temperature of unit  $i \in N_n := \{1, ..., n\}$  at time  $k \in N$ . Also, the matrix  $L \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is used to describe the adjacency of each unit to its neighboring units inside



Figure 2.1: HVAC control methods

the building, and  $t^{out} \in R$  is the outside temperature at time k (which is assumed to be the same everywhere around the building). Moreover,  $B_1$  is a column vector representing energy transfer between the exterior units and outside. Note that for any interior unit, the corresponding term in vector  $B_1$  is, by definition, set to zero. Furthermore,  $q(k) \in R^m$ ,  $m \le n$ , is a vector of the allocated heating source powers at time k, and matrix  $B_2 \in R^{n \times m}$  describes the propagation of heat from the source to units, affecting their temperatures.

**Remark 1.** *The temperature dynamics in equation (2.1) is a linear approximation of the nonlinear heat transfer dynamics.* 

**Remark 2.** The coefficient of matrix *L* corresponding to a pair of adjacent rooms is dependent on the material within the wall separating those rooms as well as the area of the wall.

**Remark 3.** It is important to note that the notion of adjacency matrix in the context of heat transfer in a multi-unit building is different from that used in graph theory.

**Assumption 1.** For simplicity and without loss of generality, it is assumed in this research that every unit has one heating source, i.e., m = n. This means that the *i*-th element of vector q(k), denoted by  $q_i(k)$ , is the power allocated to unit *i* at time *k*, and  $B_2$  is diagonal.

For the case when the outside temperature has been constant and the heating power for every unit has been fixed for a sufficiently long time, one can derive the steady-state temperature for every unit of the building through the following equation:

$$t_{ss} = B_1' t^{out} + B_2' q_{ss}, (2.2)$$

where  $t_{ss} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the vector of steady-state temperatures of all units, and  $t^{out}$  and  $q_{ss}$  are fixed quantities as noted above. It is straightforward to verify that  $B'_1 = L^{-1}B_1$  and  $B'_2 = L^{-1}B_2$  in the above equation, for the case when L is non-singular (in practice L is always nonsingular because it is the sum of a positive-definite matrix and a positive semi-definite matrix). **Remark 4.** In the special case, if the adjacency of different units is neglected, matrix L in equation (2.1) becomes a diagonal matrix, leading to the following simplified dynamic equation for the unit temperatures:

$$t(k+1) = At(k) + B_1 t^{out}(k) + B_2 q(k),$$
(2.3)

where A = I - L. Since A and  $B_2$  are diagonal matrices, one can write the equation for the temperature of each unit separately as:

$$t_i(k+1) = \alpha_i t_i(k) + \beta_{1i} t^{out}(k) + \beta_{2i} q_i(k),$$
(2.4)

where  $\alpha_i$  is the (i, i)-th element of matrix A, and  $\beta_{1_i}$  and  $\beta_{2_i}$  are, respectively, the *i*-th element of vector  $B_1$  and the (i, i)-th element of matrix  $B_2$ , for any  $i \in N_n$ . It is implied from the above equation that if no power is allocated to an interior unit (i.e.  $q_i = 0$  for some  $i \in N_n$ ), the temperature of that unit will not change over time, and the outside temperature will only affect the exterior units. In practice, however, it is known that due to the adjacency of the units and the resulting heat transfer between them, the outside temperature will eventually affect every interior unit as well.

**Assumption 2.** The power allocated to unit *i* at any time instant is upper-bounded by a pre-specified value  $\bar{q}_i$  for any  $i \in N_n$ . Moreover, the total power provided to all units in the building cannot exceed a prescribed value denoted by  $\bar{q}$ , i.e.,  $\sum_{i=1}^n q_i \leq \bar{q}$ .

**Remark 5.** From the above assumption, it can be easily verified that the maximum achievable steady-state temperatures vector for different units (when the outside temperature has been constant for a long time) is upper-bounded by  $L^{-1}B_1t^{out} + L^{-1}B_2\bar{q}_{ss}$ , where  $\bar{q}_{ss} = [\bar{q}_1, \dots, \bar{q}_n]^T$ .

**Remark 6.** While the main focus of this study is on the heating mode of the HVAC systems, the results can be easily extended to the cooling mode as well. The only difference in the formulation of

the cooling mode is that matrix  $B_2$  is multiplied by -1. If a unit does not have any power source, the corresponding coefficient in  $B_2$  will be zero.

**Definition 1.** A comfort zone is defined for each unit, which is characterized by an upper temperature  $t_{i_u}$  and a lower temperature  $t_{i_l}$  for the *i*-th unit. For simplicity and with no loss of generality, it is assumed that all units have the same comfort zone with the upper and lower temperatures denoted, respectively, by  $t_u$  and  $t_l$ .

**Definition 2.** In controlling the temperature of a multi-unit building, it is typically desired to minimize the maximum mutual difference between the unit temperatures in steady-state and also minimize the maximum instantaneous temperature in transient. The former objective will hereafter be referred to as long-term fairness, and the latter will be called short-term fairness.

To proceed with the controller design, it is required to determine a long-term fair temperature for every unit. Thus, a two-stage control algorithm is sought, where the first stage aims at regulating the temperature while achieving short-term fairness, and the second stage is concerned with guaranteed long-term fairness. Note that in the first stage, the desired temperature of the units is neglected, and only the constraint on the total available power is taken into account (because the desired temperature region is translated into the required power for achieving them). Algorithm 1 addresses the objectives of both stages, as discussed later.

To formulate fairness for the underlying interconnected network as an optimization problem, the maximum mutual difference between unit temperatures is to be minimized (long-term fairness). For a building with n units, this is mathematically described as:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \underset{q_{ss} \in R^{n}}{\operatorname{minimize}} \max_{i,j \in N_{n}} & (t_{i,ss} - t_{j,ss})^{2}, \\ \text{subject to} & \sum_{i} q_{i,ss} \leq \bar{q}, \\ & q_{i,ss} \leq \bar{q}_{i}, \\ & t_{ss} = B_{1}^{\prime} t^{out} + B_{2}^{\prime} q_{ss}, \end{array}$$

$$(2.5)$$

where  $t_{i,ss}$  denotes the temperature of unit *i* in steady state, and  $q_{ss}$  is the vector of steady-state allocated powers.

**Remark 7.** The optimization problem above aims to minimize the difference between each room's temperature and that room's desired temperature. The constraints in this optimization problem reflect the limited heating resources.

The cost function described in (2.5) takes into account the mutual temperature differences between all units. It is to be noted that one can use the absolute value of temperature differences in the objective function in (2.5), and squared values are used instead to simplify mathematical proofs. Note that because of the coupled inequality condition, the constrained optimization problem (2.5) may have multiple solutions. Therefore, without loss of generality, the coupled inequality is considered as equality for future results.

It is desired now to find a control law to achieve fair steady-state temperatures from any initial conditions. To this end, a model predictive control (MPC) approach is to be used to tackle the

following optimization problem:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \underset{q_{ss} \in R^{n}}{\operatorname{minimize}} \max_{i,j \in N_{n}} & \sum_{k=1}^{P} (t_{i}(n+k) - t_{j}(n+k))^{2}, \\ \text{subject to,} & \min(\bar{q}_{l}, \bar{q}) \leq \sum_{i} q_{i}(k) \leq \min(\bar{q}_{u}, \bar{q}), \\ & q_{i} \leq \bar{q}_{i}, \\ & t(k+1) = At(k) + B_{1}t^{out}(k) + B_{2}q(k), \end{array}$$

$$(2.6)$$

where  $\bar{q}_l$  and  $\bar{q}_u$  are, respectively heating powers which yield temperatures  $t_l$  and  $t_u$  (the thermal comfort zone), obtained from Algorithm 2, and P is the prediction horizon.

| Algorithm 1 | Fair | power al | llocation | strategy   | for t | hermal | comfort. |  |
|-------------|------|----------|-----------|------------|-------|--------|----------|--|
|             |      |          |           | . Strategy |       |        |          |  |

```
1: update t^{out}
 2: initialize t_l, t_u
 3: q_l \leftarrow \text{LONGTERM}_\text{ALLOC}(t_l, t^{out})
 4: q_u \leftarrow \text{LONGTERM}_\text{ALLOC}(t_u, t^{out})
 5: while true do
           if |\Delta t^{out}| > t^{out}_{threshold} then update t^{out}
 6:
 7:
                 \bar{q}_l \leftarrow \text{LONGTERM}_{\text{ALLOC}}(t_l, t^{out})
 8:
                 \bar{q}_u \leftarrow \text{LONGTERM}_{\text{ALLOC}}(t_u, t^{out})
 9:
           end if
10:
           q \leftarrow solve optimization (2.6)
11:
12: end while
```

#### 2.4 Main Results

A procedure is developed in Algorithm 1 for allocating power to different units such that shortand long-term fairness is achieved. In this algorithm, at the beginning of each iteration, if the change in outside temperature is greater than a prescribed threshold, new upper and lower bounds for the total power should be derived according to Algorithm 2, because when outside temperature changes,  $\bar{q}_l$  and  $\bar{q}_u$  are subject to change as well. After this step, power allocation for the subsequent interval

Algorithm 2 The steady-state fair power allocation for thermal comfort

1: **function** LONGTERM\_ALLOC( $t_{sp}, t^{out}$ )  $t_{b,new} \leftarrow [0 \ 0 \ \dots \ 0]^T$ 2:  $A_{eq} = \mathbf{1}$ 3: 4:  $b_{eq} = \bar{q}$ while  $(!(sum(t_{b,new}) = sum(t_b) \text{ and } counter! = 0))$  do 5: 6:  $t_b \leftarrow t_{b,new}$  $q \leftarrow \text{long-term fair allocation, considering } A_{eq}q = b_{eq}.$ 7:  $t \leftarrow$  new steady-state temperature according to q8: 9:  $t_{b,new} \leftarrow ((t - t_{sp}) \ge 0) || t_{b,new}$ if all units have reached set-point then 10:  $t_b \leftarrow t_{b,new}$ 11: 12:  $flag \leftarrow true$ break 13: end if 14: if  $q_i$ 's are greater than  $\bar{q}_i$  for some *i* then 15:  $flag \leftarrow true$ 16: break 17: end if 18: reinitialize  $A_{eq}$  and  $b_{eq}$ 19: for i =all elements in  $t_{b,new}$  do 20:  $A_{eq} \leftarrow [A'_{eq} A(i,:)']'$ 21:  $b_{eq} \leftarrow [b_{eq} t_{sp}]'$ 22: 23: end for 24: counter++ end while 25:  $A_{eq}, b_{eq} \leftarrow []$ 26: if flag then 27: for i = 1:n do 28: if  $t_b(i)$  or  $(!t_b(i)$  and  $t_{max}(i) > t_{sp})$  then 29:  $A_{eq} \leftarrow [A'_{eq} \ A(i,:)']'$ 30:  $b_{eq} \leftarrow [b_{eq} \ \bar{t}_{sp}]'$ 31: else 32:  $I^i := zeros(1, n)$ 33:  $I^i(i) \leftarrow 1$ 34:  $A_{eq} \leftarrow [A_{eq}I^{i'}]$ 35:  $b_{eq} \leftarrow [b_{eq} \ \bar{q}(i)]$ 36: end if 37: 38: end for end if 39:  $q \leftarrow \text{optimization} (2.5) \text{ with } A_{eq}q = b_{eq}.$ 40: 41: end function

is obtained in line 11.

In Algorithm 2, given the upper and lower bounds of the thermal comfort zone  $t_l$  and  $t_u$ , the setpoint temperature  $t_{sp}$  is set to  $t_l$  and  $t_u$  in lines 8 and 9 of Algorithm 1, respectively. More precisely, in line 8 of Algorithm 1,  $t_l$  is passed to Algorithm 2 to compute  $\bar{q}_l$ , the minimum required power for reaching temperature  $t_l$  for all units. Then in line 9 of Algorithm 1, the same procedure is repeated, this time considering  $t_u$  instead of  $t_l$ , resulting in the minimum required power  $\bar{q}_u$ . The two values obtained as the minimum required power are subsequently used in line 11 of Algorithm 1 to achieve the desired thermal comfort zone. Note that Algorithm 2 uses the optimal strategy obtained by solving (2.5) and applies it to the system. If the unit's steady-state temperature is greater than the set-point, then the temperature of that unit is regarded as  $t_{sp}$  in the next iteration.

The algorithm stops when all units reach the set-point temperature (Line 10) or when there is no improvement in fair allocation of power (Line 5). By computing the total power at the end of the algorithm, the minimum required power for reaching either  $t_l$  or  $t_u$  can be obtained, which is subsequently used in Algorithm 1. Note that since  $\bar{q}_l$  is the minimum required power for all units to reach  $t_l$ , if the total available power is chosen higher than this value, the temperatures of units will be higher than  $t_l$ . In other words, the minimum required power will be used first to raise the temperatures of all units to  $t_l$ , and then the excess power will be fairly distributed among all units to further increase their temperature within the thermal comfort zone. Similarly, if the total available power is less than  $\bar{q}_u$ , then the temperatures of all units will be less than  $t_u$ , and hence all unit temperatures are maintained within the desired range.

Assumption 3. It is assumed that if unit  $i \in N_n$  has a heater, the effect of that heater on that unit's temperature will be greater than that of any other unit. In other words,  $\partial t_i / \partial q_i > \partial t_j / \partial q_i$ , where  $j \in N_n$ ,  $j \neq i$ . A similar assumption holds for the case of cooling sources.

**Definition 3.** Given a column or row vector, the superscript  $m^-$  is used hereafter to generate another column or row vector whose elements are the first m - 1 elements of the original vector.

The superscript  $m^+$ , on the other hand, is used to generate another column or row vector consisting of elements  $m, \ldots, n$  of the original vector. For example,  $q_{ss}^{m^-}$  is a vector of the steady-state values of the allocated power of the heating system for units 1 to m - 1, and  $q_{ss}^{m^+}$  is a vector of the steady-state power of the heating system for units m to n.

**Definition 4.** For any matrix  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $\mathbb{B}^{m^+}$  is a matrix consisting of rows m to n of B. Also, the short-hand notations of  $\mathbb{B}^{m^+_-}$  and  $\mathbb{B}^{m^+_+}$  denote matrices consisting of the first m - 1 columns and columns m to n of  $\mathbb{B}^{m^+}$ , respectively.

**Definition 5.** *P* is a  $(n-m) \times (n-m+1)$  matrix with diagonal elements of all 1, and the elements to the immediate right-hand side of the diagonal elements are all -1.

The minimax problem in (2.5) is equivalent to the following minimization problem:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \underset{q_{ss} \in R^{n}}{\text{minimize}} & \gamma \\ \text{subject to} & (t_{i,ss} - t_{j,ss})^{2} \leq \gamma, \ i, j \in N_{n} \\ & \sum_{i} q_{i,ss} = \bar{q}, \\ & q_{i,ss} \leq \bar{q}_{i}, \\ & t_{ss} = B_{1}^{\prime} t^{out} + B_{2}^{\prime} q_{ss}. \end{array}$$

$$(2.7)$$

**Theorem 1.** Given a multi-unit building, let the units be numbered based on their steady-state temperatures such that  $t_{1,ss} < ... < t_{r,ss} = ... = t_{n,ss}$ . Let m be the largest integer between r and n for which  $q_{ss}^{m^-} = \bar{q}^{m^-}$ . Then, the solution for (2.5) can be obtained as:

$$q_{ss}^{m^{+}} = \begin{pmatrix} PB_{2}^{\prime m_{+}^{+}} \\ \mathbf{1}^{T} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} -PB_{1}^{\prime m^{+}}t^{out} - PB_{2}^{\prime m_{-}^{+}}\bar{q}^{m^{-}} \\ \bar{q} - \sum_{i=1}^{m-1}\bar{q}_{i} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.8)

where  $\mathbf{1}^T$  is a row vector of all ones with appropriate dimension.

*Proof.* It is assumed that units with lower long-term optimal temperatures (which are units  $1, \ldots, r-1$ ) do not have the same exact steady-state temperature, which is a realistic assumption in practice. Using Lagrange multipliers for the constrained optimization problem described by (2.7) yields:

$$L = \gamma + \sum_{\forall i,j} \lambda_{i,j} ((t_{i,ss} - t_{j,ss})^2 - \gamma)$$
$$+ \zeta (\sum_{i=1}^n q_{i,ss} - \bar{q}) + \sum_{i=1}^n \sigma_i (q_{i,ss} - \bar{q}_i).$$

Since the desired minimum is a regular point, the first Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) condition is given by:

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \gamma} = 0,$$

which results in  $\sum_{\forall i,j} \lambda_{i,j} = 1$ ; therefore, one can simply eliminate  $\gamma$  in the Lagrangian formulation. Removing  $\gamma$  and writing KKT condition for the new problem yields:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\partial L}{\partial \zeta} = 0, \ \frac{\partial L}{\partial q_{i,ss}} = 0, \\ &\sigma_i(q_{i,ss} - \bar{q}_i) = 0, \ i \in N_n \\ &\lambda_{i,j}((t_{i,ss} - t_{j,ss})^2 - \gamma) = 0, \ \forall i, j \in N_n \\ &\lambda_{i,j} \ge 0, \ \sigma_i \ge 0, \ \forall i, j \in N_n. \end{split}$$

According to Assumption 3 it can be proved that  $\zeta \neq 0$ . Units are renumbered using the scheme described earlier,  $t_{i,ss} \neq t_{j,ss}$ , and hence

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{i,j} = 0, \ i \in N_{r-1}, \ j \in N_n \\\\ \frac{\partial L}{\partial q_{i,ss}} = 0, \end{cases}$$

yields  $q_{i,ss} = \bar{q}_i$ . If there exists any other unit for which  $q_i = \bar{q}_i$ ,  $i \in \{r, \ldots, n\}$  it is assigned a number between r and m-1, i.e.  $q_{ss}^{m^-} = \bar{q}_{ss}^{m^-}$ . Thus, for  $i \ge m$ , the corresponding  $\sigma_i$  is zero. For

units  $m, \ldots, n$  since  $t_m = \ldots = t_n$  hence  $Pt^{m^+} = 0$ . Thus,

$$P(B_{1}^{\prime m^{+}}t^{out} + B_{2}^{\prime m^{+}}q_{ss}) = 0$$
  

$$\Rightarrow PB_{2}^{\prime m^{+}}q_{ss} = -PB_{1}^{\prime m^{+}}t^{out},$$
  

$$\Rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} PB_{2}^{\prime m^{+}}\\ \mathbf{1}^{T} \end{pmatrix} q_{ss}^{m^{+}} = \begin{pmatrix} -PB_{1}^{\prime m^{+}}t^{out} - PB_{2}^{\prime m^{+}}\bar{q}^{m^{-}}\\ \bar{q} - \sum_{i=1}^{m-1}\bar{q}_{i} \end{pmatrix}.$$

From the above result and noting that that for units  $1, \ldots, m-1$  we have  $q_i = \bar{q}_i$ , it results that:

$$q_{ss}^{m^{+}} = \begin{pmatrix} PB_{2}^{\prime m_{+}^{+}} \\ \mathbf{1}^{T} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} -PB_{1}^{\prime m^{+}}t^{out} - PB_{2}^{\prime m_{-}^{+}}\bar{q}^{m^{-}} \\ \bar{q} - \sum_{i=1}^{m-1}\bar{q}_{i} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.9)

Using Theorem 1, it is straightforward to obtain the steady-state temperature of every unit in the special case when there is no heat transfer between them. This special case is addressed in the next proposition.

**Proposition 1.** Neglecting the effect of heat transfer between the adjacent units and reordering units as proposed in Theorem 1, the following solution is obtained for the optimization problem described by (2.5):

$$t_{i,ss} = \frac{\bar{q} + \sum_{k=m}^{n} \frac{\beta_{1k}}{\beta_{2k}} t^{out} - \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} \bar{q}_{k}}{\sum_{k=m}^{n} \frac{\beta_{1k}}{\beta_{2k}}}, \ i = m, \dots, n$$
  
$$t_{i} = t_{i}^{out} + \frac{\beta_{2i}}{\beta_{1i}} \bar{q}_{i}, \ i = 1, \dots, m-1.$$
 (2.10)

*Proof.* By neglecting the heat transfer between adjacent units (i.e., using equation (2.4)), it is straightforward to show that  $B'_1 = I$  and  $B'_2 = diag(\frac{\beta_{21}}{\beta_{11}}, \dots, \frac{\beta_{2n}}{\beta_{1n}})$  in equation (2.2). Therefore, one can decompose the following matrix into the product of a lower triangular matrix and upper

triangular matrix, as follows:

$$\begin{pmatrix} PB_2^{\prime m_+^+} \\ \mathbf{1}^T \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I & \mathbf{0} \\ \\ \frac{\beta_{1m}}{\beta_{2m}} & \frac{\beta_{1m}}{\beta_{2m}} + \frac{\beta_{1(m+1)}}{\beta_{2(m+1)}} & \dots & \sum_{i=m}^n \frac{\beta_{1i}}{\beta_{2i}} \end{pmatrix} \\ \\ \frac{\left( PB_2^{\prime m_+^+} \\ \\ \overline{\mathbf{0} \dots \mathbf{0} \frac{\beta_{2n}}{\beta_{1n}}} \right)$$

The inverse of the above matrix can be obtained as:

$$\begin{pmatrix} PB_{2}^{\prime m_{+}^{+}} \\ \mathbf{1}^{T} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\beta_{1m}}{\beta_{2m}} & \frac{\beta_{1m}}{\beta_{2m}} & \cdots & \frac{\beta_{1m}}{\beta_{2m}} \\ 0 & \frac{\beta_{1(m+1)}}{\beta_{2(m+1)}} & \cdots & \frac{\beta_{1(m+1)}}{\beta_{2(m+1)}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \frac{\beta_{1n}}{\beta_{2n}} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -\frac{\beta_{1m}}{\beta_{2m}} & -\frac{\beta_{1m}}{\beta_{2m}} + \frac{\beta_{1(m+1)}}{\beta_{2(m+1)}} \\ \sum_{i=m}^{n} \beta_{1i}/\beta_{2i}} & \cdots & \sum_{i=m}^{n} \beta_{1i}/\beta_{2i}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(2.11)$$

Considering equation (2.3) in steady state and substituting in it the steady-state allocated power obtained from (2.8), one arrives at:

$$t_{ss}^{m^{+}} = \mathbf{1}t^{out} + B_{2}^{\prime m_{+}^{+}} \begin{pmatrix} PB_{2}^{\prime m_{+}^{+}} \\ \mathbf{1}^{T} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} -Pt^{out} \\ \bar{q} - \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \bar{q}_{i} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.12)

The proof is completed by replacing the inverse matrix in the above equation from (2.11).  $\Box$ 

**Remark 8.** *Proposition* 1 *implies that the optimal strategy obtained by solving* (2.5) *allocates power to units with the lowest maximum achievable temperature first, then the ones with the second-lowest* 



Figure 2.2: The floor map of the building in Example 3. The double-sided arrows represent heat transfer between two neighboring units (yellow arrows) or between a unit and outside (green arrows).

maximum achievable temperature, and so on. All other units with higher achievable temperatures reach consensus in their temperature.

#### 2.5 Simulation Results

Three examples are presented in this section to illustrate the theoretical findings.

**Example 3.** Consider a multi-unit building with the floor map depicted in Fig. 2.2, and let the parameters related to the building and environment be n = 6,  $\beta_1 = 0.1$ ,  $B_1 = [\beta_1, ..., \beta_1]^T$ ,  $B_2 = diag([0.1 \ 0.18 \ 0.09 \ 0.11 \ 0.12 \ 0.095])$ ,  $\bar{q}_1 = 20$ ,  $\bar{q}_2 = 10$ ,  $\bar{q}_3 = 25$ ,  $\bar{q}_4 = 25$ ,  $\bar{q}_5 = 20$ ,  $\bar{q}_6 = 20$ ,  $\bar{q} = 110$ ,  $t(0) = [5 \ 2 \ 7 \ 1 \ 0 \ 0]^T$ , and  $t_{out} = 0$ . Assume there is no heat transfer between different units. The results of the optimal strategies obtained by solving the optimization problem (2.6) are demonstrated in Fig. 2.3. Note that it is assumed in this example that there is no predefined thermal comfort zone for the units. In other words, lines 8 and 9 of Algorithm 1 are replaced by  $\bar{q}_l \leftarrow \bar{q}$  and  $\bar{q}_u \leftarrow \bar{q}$ , respectively (this means that Algorithm 2 is not executed in this case). The simulations confirm that this approach exhibits short-term fairness.

Example 4. To verify short-term fairness property of the proposed method, consider a building with

two units, and let the building parameters be  $\beta_1 = 0.1$ ,  $B_1 = [\beta_1, \beta_1]^T$ ,  $B_2 = diag([0.20, 0.20])$ ,  $\bar{q}_1 = \bar{q}_2 = 14$ ,  $\bar{q} = 25$ ,  $t(0) = [2 \ 28]^T$ , and  $t^{out} = 0$ . The results are presented in Fig. 2.4, which show that both short-term and long-term fairness are achieved using this approach.

**Example 5.** Consider a multi-unit building with the same floor map as in Example 3 (i.e., the one given in Fig. 2.2). Assume that the heat transfer between two adjacent units is not negligible, and let the adjacency matrix be given by:

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} 7\beta_1 & -2\beta_1 & -\beta_1 & -3\beta_1 & 0 & 0\\ -2\beta_1 & 8\beta_1 & -2\beta_1 & 0 & -3\beta_1 & 0\\ -\beta_1 & -2\beta_1 & 9\beta_1 & -2\beta_1 & -2\beta_1 & -2\beta_1\\ -3\beta_1 & 0 & -2\beta_1 & 6\beta_1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -3\beta_1 & -2\beta_1 & 0 & 8\beta_1 & -2\beta_1\\ 0 & 0 & -2\beta_1 & 0 & -2\beta_1 & 5\beta_1 \end{bmatrix}$$

The simulation results, in this case, are provided in Fig. 2.5, which demonstrates the effectiveness of the proposed technique in achieving long-term fairness. This figure shows that under the optimal strategy developed in this work, the temperatures of all units settle within the thermal comfort zone while preserving short- and long-term fairness.

#### 2.6 Conclusions

In this chapter, fair allocation of energy resources in a multi-unit building is investigated where it is desired to reach a thermal comfort zone for every unit with limited energy resources. Unlike existing strategies that often ignore the heat transfer between adjacent units, the proposed method uses an adjacency matrix to model the heat exchange dynamics. The Problem is then formulated as a constrained optimization where it is desired to achieve short-term and long-term fairness. Analytical solutions are provided for the optimization problem with and without heat transfer dynamics, and



Figure 2.3: Temperatures and power allocation for the units in the building of Example 3 without taking the heat transfer between the units into consideration. (a) Room temperatures obtained by using the minimax approach, and (b) power allocation for the units obtained by using the minimax approach.



Figure 2.4: Temperatures and power allocation for the units in the building of Example 4 without taking the heat transfer between the units into consideration. (a) Room temperatures obtained by using the minimax approach, and (b) power allocation for the units obtained by using the minimax approach.



Figure 2.5: Allocated power and resulting temperature over 24 hours in the system of Example 5. (a) Temperatures of different units obtained by using the proposed method, and (b) power allocated to each unit using the proposed method.

fair steady-state temperatures of all units are derived in long term. Simulations for three different building models demonstrate the efficacy of the proposed optimal strategy in achieving short- and long-term fairness with limited resources.

### **Chapter 3**

# Fair Rate Assignment in Reverse-Link CDMA

#### 3.1 Summary

This chapter studies fair dynamic rate allocation in a CDMA network. An optimization-based fair reverse-link rate assignment strategy is proposed. The network is modeled in a star topology, where the nodes represent either the base station (BS) or access terminals (ATs). The BS at every time instant computes the fair rate for each AT by minimizing the maximum disparity in user rates. Then, the BS sends a single bit to all ATs at every time instant. It is shown that if each AT could compute a specific variable, called the coordinating variable, it can find its fair rate, which means the decision-making strategy is distributed. The proposed method is computationally efficient, and simulations confirm its efficacy in different scenarios.

#### 3.2 Introduction

Code-division multiple access (CDMA) 2000 standard was developed for high-speed wireless communication networks. One of the primary advantages of this technology is that it does not limit the user's frequency spectrum, hence optimizing the bandwidth utilization. In the past two decades, there have been several improvements in this type of network, and the technology continues to be dominant in many mobile telephone standards.

Fairness is one of the critical problems in wireless communication networks. The authors in [46] presents two categories of fairness measures in rate assignment: quantitative and qualitative. Two quantitative fairness measures are introduced in [47] and [48], respectively, based on Jain's index [49] and entropy [50]. The two main qualitative fairness measures, on the other hand, are max-min fairness [51, 52, 53, 54, 55] (which is often defined based on the notion of bottlenecks [56]), and proportional fairness (which is applied to the rate per unit charge). Lexicographic fairness for bandwidth allocation and data collection is discussed in detail in [39], [40]. The authors in [41] develop a computationally efficient lexicographic minimax algorithm to allocate resources appropriately. Two types of fairness, namely dynamic and static, are studied in [39], [40], [41]. The concept of fairness has also been applied to other applications, such as HVAC systems [57].

Authors in [58] provide two reverse-link algorithms in CDMA are proposed. They formulated the problem as a utility maximization problem. It is shown that both MAC algorithms solve this utility maximization problem and therefore show fair behavior. Koksal et al. [59] provide two metrics for measuring fairness for MAC protocols. The focus of their research was more on short-term fairness rather than considering fairness in an extended period, long-term fairness. In [60], a distributed rate control algorithm is proposed, which controls reverse-link rate for all ATs using a pricing mechanism to guarantee short- and long-term fairness. The authors in [61] provide two algorithms for optimal reverse link rate assignment using only a single-bit feedback signal. The rate assignment problem is formulated in the context of resource allocation in [62], where the stability criteria are developed in the presence of time delay. The authors in [63] develop models by analysis and simulation to evaluate network fairness. Four bandwidth allocation methods are developed in [64], and their fairness properties are analyzed for variable bit rate traffic. Moreover, there have been some valuable advancements in fairness in wireless sensor networks recently. For example, the authors in [65] investigate spectrum competition among users in a wireless network. This becomes a more prevalent problem when dealing with an exponentially increasing quantity of intelligent terminals. The work [66] proposes a fair and energy-efficient resource allocation in a specific wireless network setting. Furthermore, there is often a conflict between two objectives: energy efficiency and spectral efficiency. The above article transforms this conflict into a solvable minimization problem that results in a fairness-aware spectral and energy-efficient output. Furthermore, as a result of slower flow convergence during the loss recovery phase and flat-rate reduction during congestion control, the multi-hop wireless network shows poor throughput stability and flow fairness performance.. In [67], the authors propose feedback-assisted recovery to address this problem. In [68], the user cooperation method in wireless networks is investigated. The proposed method can mitigate inherent user unfairness issues in wireless network settings, resulting in more satisfaction for all users. The authors in [69] study resource allocation under a fairness-energy-throughput. This will lead to an increase in spectral efficiency and higher quality of service.

While the network performance in this type of network can be formulated as a classical control problem, most of the methods described in the previous paragraphs do not tackle the problem from a control-theoretic perspective. Such a viewpoint could help improve the network performance using powerful closed-loop control techniques. A constrained optimization strategy is developed in this work to enhance fairness in a wireless communication network. The analysis and design methods are based on a classical closed-loop control system, where the binary feedback signal from the BS to each user or AT is modeled as a nonlinear two-stage controller. The solution to the problem is obtained using the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions. It is also shown how the describing

function method can be used to identify permanent oscillations in the assigned rates.

The remainder of this chapter is planned as follows. In Section III, the problem statement along with some useful background information is presented. Then, in Section IV, the main results are given. Next, simulations are provided in Section V for different scenarios, which support the efficacy of the theoretical results. Finally, the concluding remarks are presented in Section VI.

#### **3.3** Problem Formulation

Now, we get back to a CDMA network. Consider a CDMA network with n ATs and one BS, as shown in Fig. 3.1. ATs cannot communicate with each other, and only receive one single bit from the BS. This is, in fact, the feedback signal and is the same for all ATs [60].



Figure 3.1: An example of a wireless communication network with one BS and n ATs (users)

Each AT can transmit at rates belonging to a prespecified finite set  $\Gamma$ . Let the selected rate for the *i*-th AT at time instant t be  $R_i(t)$ . Denote the ratio of transmitted power to the pilot power by  $T_i(t)$ . The relation between  $R_i(t)$  and  $T_i(t)$  is described by a function as follows:

$$T_i(t) = F(R_i(t)) \tag{3.1}$$

The function F(.) can be derived from the IS-856 standard, depicted in Fig. 3.2 [60]. According to this figure, F(.) could be approximated with a first-order or third-order fit. For simplicity, we

consider a first-order approximation.



Figure 3.2: Graphical representation of function F(.)

For the BS to properly decode the received signal from the ATs, the rise-over-thermal (RoT) criteria given below needs to be satisfied [60]:

$$Z(t) = 10\log_{10}(1 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{T_i(t)P_{pilot}}{N_0 W})$$
(3.2)

$$Z(t) \le Z_{th} \tag{3.3}$$

where Z(.) is the RoT at the BS,  $P_{pilot}$  is the received pilot power from the ATs,  $N_0W$  is the power of noise and interference, and  $Z_{th}$  is the RoT threshold to be met for the BS to decode the signals. Using (3.2), (3.3) and substituting  $T_i$ 's from (3.1) yields:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} F(R_i(t)) \le N_0 W(10^{Z_{th}/10} - 1) / P_{pilot}$$
(3.4)

It is straightforward to show that by using the first-order approximation for F(.) one obtains:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} R_i(t) \le R_t \tag{3.5}$$

where the parameter  $R_t$  is a threshold that can be easily obtained from (3.4). Let  $g_i$  be the long-term average rate guarantee for AT *i*. Let also  $\rho_i(k)$  be an exponentially weighted average rate with the time constant  $m \ge 2$ , satisfying the following relation:

$$\rho_i(k) = \frac{1}{m}((m-1)\rho_i(k-1) + R_i(k))$$
(3.6)

Definition 6. The long-term fairness means a scalar c exists such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \rho_i(k) = cg_i \tag{3.7}$$

except when  $cg_i$  exceeds the maximum feasible transmission rate [60].

In the next section, it will be shown that the notion of fairness in a CDMA setting is equivalent to that of max-min fairness.

#### 3.4 Main Results

Consider the following optimization problem:

minimize 
$$\max_{i,j\in N_n} (\frac{R_i}{g_i} - \frac{R_j}{g_j})^2$$
  
subject to:  $R_i \le \bar{R}$  (3.8)  
 $\sum_{i=1}^n R_i(t) \le R_t$ 

in which  $R_i$  is the steady-state transmission rate of the *i*-th AT,  $g_i$  is its guaranteed rate,  $\overline{R}$  is the maximum rate for the users, and  $R_t$  is the threshold defined based on the coupled inequality reflecting the maximum allowable interference.

**Remark 9.** It is to be noted that the strict inequality optimization (3.8) has a trivial solution, which

is zero for all variables; that is why in the optimization problem, the coupled constraint should be considered as equality.

**Remark 10.** In the performance index given in (3.8), a quadratic term is used instead of the absolute value because for the analytical solution this function needs to be differentiable.

Now, reformulate the problem defined by (3.8) as follows:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \underset{\gamma,R_{i},R_{j}}{\text{minimize}} & \gamma \\ \text{subject to:} & (\frac{R_{i}}{g_{i}} - \frac{R_{j}}{g_{j}})^{2} \leq \gamma \\ & R_{i} \leq \bar{R} \\ & \sum_{i=1}^{n} R_{i}(t) \leq R_{t} \end{array}$$

$$(3.9)$$

To solve the above problem, one can write the Karush–Kuhn–Tucker (KKT) conditions. To this end, define the Lagrangian as:

$$L(\gamma, R) = \gamma + \sum_{i,j} \xi_{ij} ((\frac{R_i}{g_i} - \frac{R_j}{g_j})^2 - \gamma) + \sum_i \sigma_i (R_i - \bar{R}) + \zeta (\sum_{i=1}^n R_i(t) - R_t)$$
(3.10)

The KKT conditions are then given by:

$$\xi_{ij}\left(\left(\frac{R_i}{g_i} - \frac{R_j}{g_j}\right)^2 - \gamma\right) = 0$$

$$\sigma_i(R_i - \bar{R}) = 0$$

$$\xi_{ij} \ge 0, \sigma_i \ge 0$$

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \gamma} = 0, \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_i} = 0, \frac{\partial L}{\partial \zeta} = 0$$
(3.11)

The results derived in the sequel are obtained based on the above formulation.

**Lemma 1.** There exists at least one ordered pair  $(i_0, j_0)$  for which the coefficient  $\xi_{i_0j_0}$  in (3.11) is strictly positive.

*Proof.* It is known that the derivative of the Lagrangian in (3.10) with respect to  $\gamma$  should be zero. In other words:

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \gamma} = 0 \Rightarrow \sum_{ij} \xi_{ij} = 1, \xi_{ij} \ge 0$$
(3.12)

From the above equation, it can be concluded that at least one of the  $\xi_{ij}$ 's is strictly positive.  $\Box$ 

Let  $R_i/g_i$ 's be ordered in descending sequence, i.e.,  $R_1/g_1 \ge \ldots \ge R_m/g_m > \ldots >$  $R_{m'}/g_{m'} \ge \ldots \ge R_n/g_n$ .

**Lemma 2.** There exist m and m' such that for all  $i \neq 1, ..., m$  or  $j \neq m', ..., n$ , the coefficient  $\xi_{ij}$  is absolutely zero.

*Proof.* The proof follows immediately by using the above ordered sequence in the KKT conditions (3.11).

**Lemma 3.** The value of  $\zeta$  in (3.10) is strictly negative.

*Proof.* We know that  $\partial L/\partial R_t = 0$ , for t = 1, ..., N. From Lemma 2 one can write:

$$2\frac{\frac{R_{1}}{g_{1}} - \frac{R_{N}}{g_{N}}}{g_{t}}\sum_{i}\xi_{i,t} + \sigma_{t} + \zeta = 0 \Rightarrow \zeta = -2\frac{\frac{R_{1}}{g_{1}} - \frac{R_{N}}{g_{N}}}{g_{t}}\sum_{i}\xi_{i,t} - \sigma_{t}$$
(3.13)

According to Lemma 1, there exists at least one pair  $(i_0, j_0)$  for which  $\xi_{i_0, j_0} > 0$  and for all other pairs  $\xi_{i,j} \ge 0$ . Therefore, by selecting  $t = i_0$  or  $i = j_0$  in the above equation, it is guaranteed that  $\zeta < 0$ .

**Lemma 4.** For  $i = m + 1, \ldots, N$ , we have  $R_i = \overline{R}$ .

*Proof.* For all i = m + 1, ..., m' - 1, it follows from Lemma 2 that  $\xi_{i,j} = 0$  for any j = 1, ..., N. . Thus, it results from (3.13) that  $\sigma_i = -\zeta > 0$ . From the KKT conditions in (3.11) we know that  $\sigma_i(R_i - \bar{R}) = 0$ , and that  $\sigma_i > 0$ . This results in  $R_i = \bar{R}$  for  $i = m + 1, \dots, m' - 1$ .

We now prove the same result for  $R_i$  with i = m', ..., N. For this, we know that based on (3.9), the function  $\gamma$  is minimized. Assume  $R_i < \overline{R}$ ; then, we can increase  $R_i$  by a sufficiently small value  $\delta R$  and decrease this amount from  $R_j$  for j = 1, ..., m' - 1. Now, all constraints are satisfied but we have a lower value for  $\gamma$  which contradicts with the assumption  $\gamma$  was minimized. This completes the proof.

**Theorem 2.** For the set of equations and inequalities in (3.11), we have:

$$R_{i} = \bar{R}, \quad m+1 \le i < N$$

$$R_{i} = \frac{g_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} g_{i}} (R_{t} - (N-m)\bar{R}), \quad 1 \le i \le m$$
(3.14)

where *m* is the largest value for which:

$$R_m \le \bar{R} \tag{3.15}$$

*Proof.* From Lemma 4, we know that  $R_i = \overline{R}$  for all i = m + 1, ..., N, proving the first part of the theorem. As a result:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} R_i = R_t - (N - m)\bar{R}$$
(3.16)

From the sorting order discussed before, we have:

$$\frac{R_i}{g_i} = \frac{R_j}{g_j}, \ i = 1, \dots, m, \ j = 1, \dots, m$$
(3.17)

Equations (3.16) and (3.17), yields:

$$R_{i} = \frac{g_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} g_{i}} (R_{t} - (N - m)\bar{R}), \ 1 \le i \le m$$
(3.18)

Again, from the special sorting order, we know that m is the largest value for which  $R_i = R_j$  for

all  $i, j = 1, \ldots, m$ . This completes the proof.

So far, the fairness and maximum allowable interference constraints are satisfied. It is desired now to use a binary signal transmitted from the BS to each user to generate a bang-bang control law for every AT. To this end, equation (3.14) can be rewritten as:

$$R_{i} = \min\{\bar{R}, \frac{g_{i}}{\sum_{i=m} ng_{i}} (R_{t} - (N - m)\bar{R})\}$$
(3.19)

Let  $C = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=m} ng_i} (R_t - (N - m)\overline{R})$ , which can be computed at the BS. Thus:

$$R_i = \min\{\bar{R}, Cg_i\} \tag{3.20}$$

According to the above formula, if the value of C was available to an AT, it could calculate the steady-state fairness by itself. Consider the network depicted in Fig. 3.1. Initially, all ATs consider the parameter C to be equal to zero. A bang-bang control strategy is then proposed as follows. At each time instant, the BS obtains ideal value of C as  $C_{ideal} = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=m} ng_i} (R_t - (N - m)\overline{R})$ . If the ATs' estimated value of C is greater than the value for  $C_{ideal}$ , the BS sends S = 1 to all ATs; otherwise, it sends S = -1 to them, and the ATs update the value of C using the following formula:

If 
$$S = 1$$
 then  $C_i(t) = C_i(t-1) + \Delta C$ ,  $1 \le i \le n$   
If  $S = -1$  then  $C_i(t) = C_i(t-1) - \Delta C$ ,  $1 \le i \le n$ 
(3.21)

Once the value of C is updated for all ATs, they can calculate their long-term fair rate.

At the next step, we aim at using the describing function analysis to the above-mentioned bangbang controller. To this end, assume that the sinusoidal input  $A(t) = A \sin(t)$  is applied as an input to the ideal switch. Therefore, the output would be:



Figure 3.3: The nonlinear closed-loop system with on-off control N and linear system G, for describing function analysis.

$$B(t) = \Delta C, \quad 0 \le \omega t \le \pi$$
  

$$B(t) = \Delta C, \quad \pi \le \omega t \le 2\pi$$
(3.22)

As the output is an odd function, the cosine coefficients of its Fourier transform are zero, and in particular,  $a_1 = 0$ . As for the sine coefficients, we have:

$$b_1 = \frac{4\Delta C}{\pi} \tag{3.23}$$

Hence, the phase angle of the describing function is:

$$\arctan(a_1/b_1) = 0 \tag{3.24}$$

Consequently, the describing function can be written as:

$$N(A,\omega) = \frac{b_1}{A}0^\circ = \frac{4\Delta C}{\pi A}$$
(3.25)

The feedback law described in equation (3.21) can be decomposed into an ideal switch (on-off controller) plus a discrete-time integrator. Note that in a limit cycle, the following relation holds:

$$G(i\omega) = -\frac{1}{N(A,\omega)}$$
(3.26)

where  $G(i\omega)$ , is the Fourier transform of a discrete integrator defined in (3.21). This means that:

$$\frac{1}{1 - e^{i\omega}} = -\frac{\pi A}{4\Delta C} \Rightarrow A = -\frac{4\Delta C}{\pi} \frac{1}{1 - e^{i\omega}}$$
(3.27)

In order for the above equation to have a real solution for A, we should have  $\omega = (2k+1)\pi$  for any integer k, which yields  $A = \frac{2\Delta C}{\pi}$ . This means that the amplitude of the limit cycle is proportional to the value of the parameter  $\Delta C$ , and hence, one can attenuate the oscillations arbitrarily by a proper choice of increments in (3.21). It is to be noted that by decreasing  $\Delta C$  convergence time increases accordingly.

#### 3.5 Simulation Results

**Example 6.** Consider a wireless network with six users and the following parameters:  $\overline{R} = 10$ ,  $R_t = 50$ , g = [2, 4, 5, 7, 9, 11], and  $\Delta C = 0.05$ . The results of fair long-term rate assignment using a distributed scheme are depicted in Fig. 3.4. The results show that the long-term fairness is achieved by using the proposed binary data as feedback signal from the BS to ATs. The figure also confirms the existence of limit cycles. We have observed that the amplitude of these oscillations depend on  $\Delta C$ , as expected, and can be adjusted accordingly.

**Example 7.** Consider a wireless network with two users, and let  $\overline{R} = 10$ ,  $R_t = 18$ , g = [10, 9], and  $\Delta C = 0.05$ . The results in this case, analogously to the previous example, are depicted in Fig. 3.5. Similar to the previous example, the results show that the fair rate assignment objective is achieved in this case too, with permanent oscillations with relatively small amplitude in the steady-state. If the same guaranteed rate is considered for both users, both rates will converge to the same value.

The proposed algorithm proves effective for the case of a varying number of users too. For example, consider the case where at time t = 25, the number of users in Example 6 changes from 6 to 8. Suppose that:  $\bar{R} = 10$ ,  $R_t = 60$ , g = [2, 4, 5, 7, 9, 11, 12, 13], and  $\Delta C = 0.05$ . The results are



Figure 3.4: The results obtained by using the proposed algorithm with six users in Example 6 given in Fig 3.6. The results show that the fairness objective is achieved in this case as well.

#### 3.6 Conclusions

In this chapter a novel approach to achieve fairness in a CDMA network reverse-link rate assignment was studied. The solution is formulated as a first-order update rule. The approach is computationally simple, with a closed-form solution. The method can also be extended to the case where the network variables are coupled. The users experience fairness when the maximum mutual differences of their rates are minimized. It is shown that, as expected intuitively, the optimal solution corresponds to the case where the users with lower rates are considered critical. Simulations confirm the effectiveness of the method.



Figure 3.5: The results obtained by using the proposed algorithm with users in Example 7



Figure 3.6: The results obtained by using the proposed algorithm in a network with a varying number of users.

### **Chapter 4**

### **Conclusions and Future Work**

In this work, we investigated fairness in a dynamic network with multiple users and limited resources. The problem was formulated in a constrained optimization framework, and effective methods were proposed to solve it. In particular, we studied two applications: heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) and code-division multiple access (CDMA). In the first application, it is desired to reach a fair steady-state temperature in different units of a building. There is a thermodynamic coupling between each pair of adjacent units due to the heat transfer. An analytical solution for the optimization problem was provided, verified by simulations. As for the second application, it is aimed to assign data rates to different users connected to a base station in a wireless communication network. Practical limitations on the individual and collective rates in the network were considered, and fairness was subsequently formulated as a constrained optimization problem. An analytical solution was presented for this problem as well, and simulation results were provided to confirm the findings. In future work, one can investigate the application of balanced resource allocation in parallel cable robots to increase the system's lifetime.

### **Bibliography**

- [1] Merriam-webster.com dictionary, merriam-webster. *https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/fair*, Accessed 28 Aug. 2022.
- [2] Jon Kleinberg, Jens Ludwig, Sendhil Mullainathan, and Ashesh Rambachan. Algorithmic fairness. In Aea papers and proceedings, volume 108, pages 22–27, 2018.
- [3] Dana Pessach and Erez Shmueli. Algorithmic fairness. arXiv preprint arXiv:2001.09784, 2020.
- [4] Solon Barocas, Moritz Hardt, and Arvind Narayanan. Fairness in machine learning. *Nips tutorial*, 1:2, 2017.
- [5] Alexandra Chouldechova and Aaron Roth. The frontiers of fairness in machine learning. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.08810*, 2018.
- [6] Ninareh Mehrabi, Fred Morstatter, Nripsuta Saxena, Kristina Lerman, and Aram Galstyan. A survey on bias and fairness in machine learning. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), 54(6):1–35, 2021.
- [7] Luca Oneto and Silvia Chiappa. Fairness in machine learning. In *Recent Trends in Learning From Data*, pages 155–196. Springer, 2020.

- [8] Peter J Wallison. Fair value accounting: A critique. *Financial Services Outlook*, pages 1–8, 2008.
- [9] Tobias Hoßfeld, Lea Skorin-Kapov, Poul E Heegaard, and Martin Varela. Definition of qoe fairness in shared systems. *IEEE Communications Letters*, 21(1):184–187, 2016.
- [10] Saar Pilosof, Ramachandran Ramjee, Danny Raz, Yuval Shavitt, and Prasun Sinha. Understanding tcp fairness over wireless lan. In IEEE INFOCOM 2003. Twenty-second Annual Joint Conference of the IEEE Computer and Communications Societies (IEEE Cat. No. 03CH37428), volume 2, pages 863–872. IEEE, 2003.
- [11] Raj Jain, Arjan Durresi, and Gojko Babic. Throughput fairness index: An explanation. In ATM Forum contribution, volume 99, 1999.
- [12] Matthew Rabin. Incorporating fairness into game theory and economics. *The American economic review*, pages 1281–1302, 1993.
- [13] Matthew Rabin. Incorporating fairness into game theory. 1992.
- [14] Matthew Rabin. Fairness in repeated games. 1997.
- [15] Alejandro Tatsuo Moreno et al. Group fairness and game theory. Technical report, Universidad de Guanajuato, Department of Economics and Finance, 2008.
- [16] Jonathan Reynolds, Yacine Rezgui, Alan Kwan, and Solene Piriou. A zone-level, building energy optimisation combining an artificial neural network, a genetic algorithm, and model predictive control. *Energy*, 151:729–739, 2018.
- [17] Luis Pérez-Lombard, José Ortiz, and Christine Pout. A review on buildings energy consumption information. *Energy and buildings*, 40(3):394–398, 2008.

- [18] Juan Hou, Haoran Li, and Natasa Nord. Nonlinear model predictive control for the space heating system of a university building in norway. *Energy*, 253:124157, 2022.
- [19] Anil Aswani, Neal Master, Jay Taneja, Andrew Krioukov, David Culler, and Claire Tomlin.
   Energy-efficient building hvac control using hybrid system lbmpc. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 45(17):496–501, 2012.
- [20] Luis Pérez-Lombard, Jose Ortiz, Juan F. Coronel, and Ismael R Maestre. A review of HVAC systems requirements in building energy regulations,. *Energy and buildings*, 43(2-3):255–268, 2011.
- [21] Petru-Daniel Moroşan, Romain Bourdais, Didier Dumur, and Jean Buisson. Building temperature regulation using a distributed model predictive control,. *Energy and Buildings*, 42(9):1445–1452, 2010.
- [22] Pervez Hameed Shaikh, Nursyarizal Bin Mohd Nor, Perumal Nallagownden, Irraivan Elamvazuthi, and Taib Ibrahim. A review on optimized control systems for building energy and comfort management of smart sustainable buildings. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 34:409–429, 2014.
- [23] Petr Stluka, Girija Parthasarathy, Steve Gabel, and Tariq Samad. Architectures and algorithms for building automation—an industry view. In *Intelligent building control systems*, pages 11–43. Springer, 2018.
- [24] Mohammad Royapoor, Anu Antony, and Tony Roskilly. A review of building climate and plant controls, and a survey of industry perspectives. *Energy and Buildings*, 158:453–465, 2018.
- [25] Abdul Afram and Farrokh Janabi-Sharifi. Theory and applications of HVAC control systems–a review of model predictive control (MPC), *Building and Environment*, 72:343–355, 2014.

- [26] Victor M Zavala, Jianhui Wang, Sven Leyffer, Emil M Constantinescu, Mihai Anitescu, and Guenter Conzelmann. Proactive energy management for next-generation building systems. *Proceedings of SimBuild*, 4(1):377–385, 2010.
- [27] Mehdi Maasoumy, Catherine Rosenberg, Alberto Sangiovanni-Vincentelli, and Duncan S Callaway. Model predictive control approach to online computation of demand-side flexibility of commercial buildings hvac systems for supply following. In 2014 American Control Conference, pages 1082–1089. IEEE, 2014.
- [28] Ye Yao and Divyanshu Kumar Shekhar. State of the art review on model predictive control (mpc) in heating ventilation and air-conditioning (hvac) field. *Building and Environment*, 200:107952, 2021.
- [29] Vamsi Putta, Guangwei Zhu, Donghun Kim, Jianghai Hu, and James Braun. Comparative evaluation of model predictive control strategies for a building hvac system. In 2013 American Control Conference, pages 3455–3460. IEEE, 2013.
- [30] Filip Jorissen, Damien Picard, Kristoff Six, and Lieve Helsen. Detailed white-box non-linear model predictive control for scalable building hvac control. In *Modelica Conferences*, pages 315–323, 2021.
- [31] Filip Belic, Zeljko Hocenski, and Drazen Sliskovic. Hvac control methods-a review. In 2015 19th International Conference on System Theory, Control and Computing (ICSTCC), pages 679–686. IEEE, 2015.
- [32] Samuel Privara, Jan Širokỳ, Lukáš Ferkl, and Jiří Cigler. Model predictive control of a building heating system: The first experience,. *Energy and Buildings*, 43(2-3):564–572, 2011.
- [33] Roberto Z Freire, Gustavo HC Oliveira, and Nathan Mendes. Predictive controllers for thermal comfort optimization and energy savings, *Energy and buildings*, 40(7):1353–1365, 2008.

- [34] Mehdi Maasoumy, M Razmara, M Shahbakhti, and A Sangiovanni Vincentelli. Handling model uncertainty in model predictive control for energy efficient buildings,. *Energy and Buildings*, 77:377–392, 2014.
- [35] Mehdi Maasoumy, Meysam Razmara, Mahdi Shahbakhti, and Alberto Sangiovanni Vincentelli. Selecting building predictive control based on model uncertainty,. In *Proceedings of American Control Conference*, pages 404–411, 2014.
- [36] Nadine Aoun, Roland Bavière, Mathieu Vallée, Antoine Aurousseau, and Guillaume Sandou. Modelling and flexible predictive control of buildings space-heating demand in district heating systems. *Energy*, 188:116042, 2019.
- [37] Andrew Kusiak, Fan Tang, and Guanglin Xu. Multi-objective optimization of HVAC system with an evolutionary computation algorithm,. *Energy*, 36(5):2440–2449, 2011.
- [38] Jian Liang and Ruxu Du. Thermal comfort control based on neural network for HVAC application,. In *Proceedings of IEEE Conference on Control Applications*, pages 819–824, 2005.
- [39] Chae Y Lee, Young P Moon, and Young Joo Cho. A lexicographically fair allocation of discrete bandwidth for multirate multicast traffics. *Computers & Operations Research*, 31(14):2349–2363, 2004.
- [40] Shigang Chen, Yuguang Fang, and Ye Xia. Lexicographic maxmin fairness for data collection in wireless sensor networks. *IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing*, 6(7):762–776, 2007.
- [41] Hanan Luss and Donald R Smith. Resource allocation among competing activities: A lexicographic minimax approach. *Operations Research Letters*, 5(5):227–231, 1986.
- [42] Felix Agner, Pauline Kergus, Richard Pates, and Anders Rantzer. Fair heat distribution under deficits in district heating networks. arXiv preprint arXiv:2103.02300, 2021.

- [43] Marijn Krips. Fair Heat Distribution in Multi-source District Heating Systems. PhD thesis, 2021.
- [44] Kristian Kiradjiev, Piotr Morawiecki, and Robert Pisarczyk. Finding a fair heat settlement model. 2021.
- [45] Di Zhang, Songsong Liu, and Lazaros G Papageorgiou. Fair cost distribution among smart homes with microgrid. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 80:498–508, 2014.
- [46] Huaizhou Shi, R Venkatesha Prasad, Ertan Onur, and I.G.M.M. Niemegeers. Fairness in wireless networks: Issues, measures and challenges. *IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials*, 16(1):5–24, 2013.
- [47] Rajendra K Jain, Dah-Ming W Chiu, William R Hawe, et al. A quantitative measure of fairness and discrimination. *Eastern Research Laboratory, Digital Equipment Corporation, Hudson,* MA, 1984.
- [48] Masato Uchida and Jim Kurose. An information-theoretic characterization of weighted alphaproportional fairness. In *IEEE INFOCOM 2009*, pages 1053–1061. IEEE, 2009.
- [49] Raj Jain. The art of computer systems performance analysis. john wiley & sons, 2008.
- [50] Claude Elwood Shannon. The mathematical theory of communication, by CE Shannon (and recent contributions to the mathematical theory of communication), W. Weaver. University of illinois Press Champaign, IL, USA, 1949.
- [51] Chenwu Hu, Long Suo, Hongyan Li, Yijun Lu, and Fei Liu. Parallel clustering for interference alignment with max-min fairness in hybrid data center networks. In 2021 7th International Conference on Computer and Communications (ICCC), pages 1325–1330. IEEE, 2021.
- [52] Patricia Ludeña-González, José Luis López-Presa, and Fernando Díez Muñoz. Upward maxmin fairness in multipath high-speed networks. *IEEE Access*, 9:163987–164005, 2021.

- [53] Zewei Jing, Qinghai Yang, Meng Qin, Jinglei Li, and Kyung Sup Kwak. Long-term max-min fairness guarantee mechanism for integrated multi-rat and mec networks. *IEEE Transactions* on Vehicular Technology, 70(3):2478–2492, 2021.
- [54] Dongjae Kim and Minseok Choi. Non-orthogonal multiple access in distributed antenna systems for max-min fairness and max-sum-rate. *IEEE Access*, 9:69467–69480, 2021.
- [55] Filipe Conceição, Carlos Henggeler Antunes, Marco Gomes, Vitor Silva, and Rui Dinis. Maxmin fairness optimization in uplink cell-free massive mimo using meta-heuristics. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 70(3):1792–1807, 2022.
- [56] Jean-Yves Le Boudec. Rate adaptation, congestion control and fairness: A tutorial. Web page, November, 4, 2005.
- [57] Hamed Molaei and Amir G. Aghdam. An optimal temperature regulation strategy for a multiunit building. In 2020 59th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), pages 6088– 6093. IEEE, 2020.
- [58] Peerapol Tinnakornsrisuphap and Christopher Lott. On the fairness and stability of the reverselink mac layer in cdma2000 1/spl times/ev-do. In 2004 IEEE International Conference on Communications (IEEE Cat. No. 04CH37577), volume 1, pages 144–148. IEEE, 2004.
- [59] Can Emre Koksal, Hisham Kassab, and Hari Balakrishnan. An analysis of short-term fairness in wireless media access protocols. In *Proceedings of the 2000 ACM SIGMETRICS international conference on Measurement and modeling of computer systems*, pages 118–119, 2000.
- [60] Raymond Yim, Oh-Soon Shin, and Vahid Tarokh. Reverse-link rate control algorithms with fairness guarantees for CDMA systems. *IEEE transactions on wireless communications*, 6(4):1386–1397, 2007.

- [61] Liu Bingzhang, Zhang Yong, Xin Zhang, and Dacheng Yang. Reverse link rate control algorithms with utility function model for CDMA2000 1x EV-DO systems. In 2007 IEEE 65th Vehicular Technology Conference-VTC2007-Spring, pages 735–739. IEEE, 2007.
- [62] Kaveh Moezzi, Kian Jalaleddini, Amir G. Aghdam, Mehdi Alasti, and Vahid Tarokh. An adaptive rate assignment strategy for CDMA2000 IS-856 subject to RAB delay. In *GLOBECOM* 2009-2009 IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2009.
- [63] Xavier Lagrange and Bijan Jabbari. Fairness in wireless microcellular networks. *IEEE Trans*actions on Vehicular Technology, 47(2):472–479, 1998.
- [64] Subir K Biswas and Rauf Izmailov. Design of a fair bandwidth allocation policy for vbr traffic in atm networks. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on networking*, 8(2):212–223, 2000.
- [65] Xiangping Bryce Zhai, Xin Liu, Chunsheng Zhu, Kun Zhu, and Bing Chen. Fast admission control and power optimization with adaptive rates for communication fairness in wireless networks. *IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing*, 2019.
- [66] Quoc-Viet Pham and Won-Joo Hwang. Fairness-aware spectral and energy efficiency in spectrum-sharing wireless networks. *IEEE transactions on vehicular technology*, 66(11):10207–10219, 2017.
- [67] M Joseph Auxilius Jude, VC Diniesh, and M Shivaranjani. Throughput stability and flow fairness enhancement of tcp traffic in multi-hop wireless networks. *Wireless Networks*, 26:4689– 4704, 2020.
- [68] Mingquan Zhong, Suzhi Bi, and Xiao-Hui Lin. User cooperation for enhanced throughput fairness in wireless powered communication networks. *Wireless Networks*, 23(4):1315–1330, 2017.

[69] Cédric Gueguen and Malo Manini. Fairness-energy-throughput optimized trade-off in wireless networks. In 2018 International Conference on Computing, Networking and Communications (ICNC), pages 815–821. IEEE, 2018.